FILED
Apr 28, 2017
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

Supreme Court No. OH405-4-I
Court of Appeals No. 69818-4-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE			
In re the Detention of:			
DONALD HERRICK,			
Petitioner.			
PETITION FOR REVIEW			

Attorney for Petitioner 1300 Hoge Building 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-0291

###

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Donald Herrick, through his attorney, Suzanne Lee Elliott, seeks review designated in Part II.

# II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals issued a published decision affirming the trial court's order for plethysmograph (PPG) testing. *In Re Herrick*, No. 69818-4-I, filed April 3, 2017.

## III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is RCW 71.09.050(1), which allows the trial court to order a precommitment detainee to submit to a PPG upon a request by the State's evaluator, unconstitutional on its face because it violates the pretrial detainee's state and federal constitutional rights to privacy and due process of law?
- 2. In the alternative, is RCW 71.09.050(1) unconstitutional as applied to Herrick under the specific facts of this case?

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In November 2010, the State filed a petition seeking to commit Donald Herrick as a sexually violent predator pursuant to RCW 71.09.

Herrick stipulated to probable cause and has been housed at the Special Commitment Center ever since. The petition alleged that in 1997 Herrick was convicted of first-degree rape. The petition also alleged that in February and June 2010 he committed new "overt" acts of stalking. And, finally, the petition alleged that Herrick suffered from a mental abnormality: Paraphilia not otherwise specified and antisocial personality disorder. Herrick stipulated to probable cause. CP 661-663.

Prior to filing the petition, the State's expert, psychologist Dr. Brian Judd, completed a clinical evaluation record review. In an evaluation dated October 9, 2010, Dr. Judd opined that Herrick met the diagnostic criteria for paraphilia not otherwise specified (NOS), alcohol abuse, cannabis abuse, voyeurism (provisional), and antisocial personality disorder not otherwise specified (NOS). Of these disorders, Dr. Judd determined that paraphilia NOS met the criteria for a mental abnormality as defined in RCW 71.09. His opinion was based on Herrick's predicate offenses, the 2009 PPG testing, which he said demonstrated that Herrick had a preference for coercive sexuality, and actuarial testing. Dr. Judd opined that Herrick's results on these tests predicted a high risk of recidivism.

Dr. Judd completed an updated clinical evaluation using 2,000 pages of Herrick's previous records. He met with Herrick but Herrick

declined to participate in a clinical interview. In April 2012, Dr. Judd provided an addendum and again opined that Herrick met the definition of a sexually violent predator. Dr. Judd used the Structured Risk Assessment, the Static 99 and the SORAG. He also relied on the results of Herrick's 2009 PPG, which he characterized as demonstrating a clear arousal to humiliation rape of an adult female and rape of a female minor, despite apparent attempts to suppress arousal. CP 675-683.

In May 2012, defense expert, Stephen Jensen, M.A., criticized Dr. Judd's report as it related to the 2009 PPG. Mr. Jensen opined that he concurred with the Northwest Treatment Associates evaluator who found the PPG inconclusive:

The [PPG] assessment was conducted appropriately and followed ... standards. The conclusions by the evaluators appear to accurately reflect the assessment data. The data was correctly assessed as "inconclusive," which indicated it is not clinically predictive. Dr. Judd incorrectly concluded that this data reflected a preference for aberrant sexual behavior, while in reality no preference was clear to any form of sexual behavior.

CP 688-694.

Herrick deposed Dr. Judd on November 28, 2012. In that deposition he stated that:

Now with regard to the PPG, that is utilized, from my standpoint for identification of range of deviancy, In some cases it is also utilized for confirmation of a diagnostic formulation, and also looking at the -- ensuring that I have

an understanding of the full range of deviancy and that I can actual target the treatment to those specific areas where the individual is having difficulty.

CP 458.

On December 10, 2012, about 90 days before trial, the State moved for an order requiring Herrick to submit to a second PPG pursuant to RCW 71.09.050(1). CP 684-86. In support of this motion the State submitted a declaration from Dr. Judd signed the day after his deposition. He said:

In order to provide the most current information possible, I am requesting another PPG of Mr. Herrick and a follow-up clinical interview.

Id. No other justification was given.

Herrick objected to the second PPG. He also provided an expert declaration from Dr. Joseph Plaud, a certified sex offender treatment provider. Dr. Plaud stated that he used PPGs in his practice and had conducted evaluations at the Washington at the Special Commitment Center. He stated that in his professional opinion:

The PPG is not like other forms of psychological assessment. It is an extremely invasive procedure which must be conducted by competently trained evaluators in a safe and secure environment, and with the full and free consent of the individual being assessed. The validity of the PPG is largely dependent upon these factors being present. The process of obtaining consent through the coercion of a court-ordered PPG evaluation would violate these principles and therefore under most circumstances would be considered both unethical (from a psychological

professional standpoint) and invalid (from a procedural standpoint). In my professional experience over the past approximately 25 years of conducting PPG evaluations, I have never encountered a situation at the pre-commitment stage involving any client (whether in clinical or forensic professional contexts) in which PPG results were created from the coercion of a court order.

CP 504-507.

On January 22, 2013, the trial court granted the State's motion to compel PPG testing. In his oral ruling the judge said he understood that Dr. Judd relied on the prior PPG to formulate his position that Herrick should be committed, but that it was "understandable" that he would want an "updated" PPG. 1/22/13 RP 27. He also stated that "the statute provides for it." In sum, the judge said:

I do find there is good cause to order the testing in the present case given the prior plethysmograph, which was before this case was filed. The statute allows for the Court to order such testing. Dr. Judd has indicated in his declaration that he requests that this testing be undertaken as part of the formulation of his analysis here. So I find that there is good cause.

*Id.* The trial court did not place any limits on the subject matter or duration of the testing.

## V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION ADDRESSES CONFLICTS WITH SETTLED SUPREME COURT PRECEDENT, IS CONFUSING AND READS LIMITATIONS INTO THE STATUTE THAT DO NOT EXIST. RAP 13.4(3) & (4).

In the Court of Appeals Herrick argued that RCW 71.09.050(1) is either unconstitutional on its face or unconstitutional as applied to him because it violated his Fourteenth Amendment and Const. Art. 1, § 7 rights to due process and privacy. He argued that the state and federal constitutions required heightened scrutiny of any order for the application of an intrusive bodily procedure and that the statute did not contain a requirement of heightened scrutiny. Herrick also argued that as applied to him the statute was unconstitutional. The Court of Appeals rejected both arguments and affirmed.

The Court of Appeals looked at the statute and seemed to hold that the statute requires a heightened level of scrutiny before the trial court can order a PPG. But that is not entirely clear from the published decision.

Slip Opinion at 6. The Court's reasoning is confusing and contrary to law. Thus, this Court should accept review to clarify that the statute is unconstitutional on its face. Further, this Court should hold that any statute that permits PPG testing requires that the party seeking such testing

meet heightened standards of scrutiny to establish that such a request is reasonable and that the PPG is the least intrusive test available.

First, the Court of Appeals failed to reference settled principles of statutory construction. To evaluate a statute's constitutionality, a court's task is to look at its plain wording. *In re Detention of Campbell*, 139 Wn.2d 341, 348, 986 P.2d 771, 775 (1999), as corrected (Dec. 14, 1999), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 1125, 121 S.Ct. 880, 148 L.Ed.2d 789 (2001). Here, the Court of Appeals appears to have ignored the fact that there is no guidance on the level of scrutiny a trial court must engage in before granting a request by the State for PPG testing of a pretrial detainee.

In seeking to get around the lack of heightened scrutiny in the statute, the Court of Appeals held that the statute did not give the trial court unfettered discretion to order a PPG. The Court reasoned that it can be ordered "only in the context of determining whether a person named in the SVP petition is an SVP." Slip Opinion at 6-7. This "reasoning" makes no sense at all. That is simply a description of the context in which the State might ask for a PPG. It is not a "limitation."

Second, the Court reasoned that the statute is constitutional because the State must ask a judge for an order for testing. Slip Opinion at 6. The Court says that because the State must ask the trial court for an order, the decision is not "unfettered." But again, that is not Herrick's

complaint. His argument is that *the statute* does not incorporate constitutional limitations on the judge's power to grant the State's request. The statute itself does not provide any guidance as to how the trial court's discretion is limited by the nature of the test and constitutional principles.

That led the Court to its third mistake – dismissing Herrick's reliance on *United States v. Weber*, 451 F.3d 552 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2006), and failing to make any mention of *Schmerber v. California*, 384 U.S. 757, 86 S.Ct. 1826, 16 L.Ed.2d 908 (1966), and *Rochin v. California*, 342 U.S. 165, 72 S.Ct. 205, 96 L.Ed. 183 (1952). Herrick relied on *Weber* to establish that PPGs involve a significant bodily intrusion. The State did not dispute that conclusion. Herrick's position is that statutes that permit bodily intrusions are subject to heightened constitutional standards. But the Court of Appeals failed to discuss that claim.

The seminal case regarding the constitutionality of bodily intrusions is *Schmerber v. California*, supra. In *Schmerber*, the defendant challenged his conviction for driving while intoxicated on the ground that the warrantless "seizure" of his blood over his objection violated his rights under the Fourth Amendment. The *Schmerber* Court rejected the defendant's claim that the seizure of blood was an unreasonable search and seizure. The court identified three requirements deemed critical to the reasonableness of the bodily intrusion in question. First, there must be a

"clear indication" that, in fact, the desired evidence will be found. Second, the test chosen to measure the defendant's blood alcohol level must be a reasonable one. Third, the test must be performed in a reasonable manner. *Schmerber*, 384 U.S. at 770-71.

In *Rochin*, the police entered the defendant's bedroom and saw him put two capsules into his mouth. Three officers "jumped upon him" and unsuccessfully tried to extract the capsules. The defendant was taken to a hospital and forced to ingest an emetic solution through a tube. Rochin then vomited up the capsules containing morphine. The Supreme Court characterized the officers' conduct as "brutal" and shocking to its conscience, and held that their method of retrieving the evidence was "too close to the rack and the screw" not to have violated due process of law. *Rochin v. California*, 342 U.S. at 172-74.

Based upon Schmerber and Rochin, the Ninth Circuit reached the conclusion that convicted sex offenders retain a significant liberty interest in being free from PPG testing. Weber explained that the defendant enjoyed "heightened procedural protections" before a district court could mandate submission to PPG testing if a sex offender treatment program used the procedure. Id. at 570. These protections required that the district court undertake a "consideration of evidence that plethysmograph testing is reasonably necessary for the particular defendant based upon his

specific psychological profile." *Id.* at 569-70. Weber further explained that, under the governing statute, a district court needed to consider available alternatives to PPG testing, such as self-reporting interviews, polygraph testing, and "Abel testing," which measures the time a defendant looks at particular photographs. *Id.* at 567-68.

It is unclear why the Court of Appeals ignored Schmerber and Rochin. Certainly a blood test is far less intrusive than PPG testing. And, while it may be a closer question as to whether it is more or less intrusive than in Rochin, having your brain and genitals manipulated by a machine and visual images so that the expert can judge one's thoughts is humiliating.

The Court of Appeals also suggested that, despite the bodily intrusions inherent in PPG testing, there were "heightened" standards in the statute because a PPG can only be administered at the request of an expert. But the fact that an evaluator requests the test does nothing to limit the intrusion. Most procedures involving bodily intrusion and manipulation are conducted by experts.

This Court should accept review and find that RCW 71.09.050 is unconstitutional. This Court should also find that the Legislature should amend the statute and expressly provide that a trial court may only order pre-trial detainees to submit to PPG testing if the requesting party

establishes that PPG testing is reasonably necessary for the particular defendant based upon his specific psychological profile and that there are no other available alternatives to PPG testing.

Finally, in this case, even if this Court were to read those constitutional limitations into the statute, it would be compelled to find that the trial court's order in this case did not reflect a heightened level of scrutiny. There was no evidence that a new PPG was reasonably necessary or would produce reliable results and the trial court did not consider any alternatives to this invasive type of testing. The State's expert has already opined that Herrick meets the definition of an SVP.

Thus, there is no basis for a second, compelled PPG test.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

This Court should grant review of this important question that is likely to recur.