NO. 94495-4

---

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

In re the Detention of:

DONALD HERRICK,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

---

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

ROBERT W. FERGUSON  
Attorney General

JOSHUA CHOATE  
Assistant Attorney General  
WSBA No. 30867, OID No. 91094  
Attorney General's Office  
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000  
Seattle, WA 98104  
(206) 389-2783

**

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

#### **V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED**

##### **A. The Court Of Appeals' Interpretation of RCW 71.09.050(1) Does Not Create Any Constitutional Concerns.**

Mr. Herrick argues that the Court of Appeals failed to address his claim that RCW 71.09.050(1) does not contain necessary constitutional protections. Consequently, he argues that the provision permitting a court to order physiological testing violates due process and his right to privacy, both on its face and as it was applied to him. Pet. at 6-8. He fails to specify whether he is raising a procedural or a substantive due process challenge.

These claims misinterpret the decision of the Court of Appeals to create a constitutional question that does not exist.

**1. Standard of review.**

Constitutional challenges are questions of law that are reviewed *de novo*. *State v. McCuiston*, 174 Wn.2d 369, 387, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012). This Court presumes the statute is constitutional and Mr. Herrick bears the burden of proving it unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Det. of Bergen*, 146 Wn. App. 515, 524, 195 P.3d 529 (2008) (citing *In re Detention of Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1, 26, 857 P.2d 989 (1993)).

**2. The Decision Below That RCW 71.09.050(1) Does Not Violate Substantive Due Process Is Consistent With Previous Decisions By This Court And The Court Of Appeals.**

Mr. Herrick asserts that the statute violates sex offenders' right to privacy under the Washington Constitution, and presumably, substantive due process. His argument fails because the State's compelling interest in protecting society from sexual predators outweighs the limited privacy interests of those convicted of sexually violent offenses. The Court of Appeals understood that RCW 71.09.050 does not allow a court to order physiological testing "simply upon request" by the State, but rather only in cases where evidence establishes good cause for the test. *In re Herrick*, 198 Wn. App. At 447-8. Further review is not warranted.

**a. It is settled that the community's grave public safety interests outweigh sex offenders' limited privacy Rights.**

The Washington constitution places greater emphasis on privacy than the federal constitution, but the State can reasonably regulate privacy rights to protect the public. *In re Det. of Williams*, 163 Wn. App. 89, 97, 264 P.3d 570 (2011) (SVP evaluation under former RCW 71.09.040 did not violate appellant's privacy rights under Washington constitution, article I, section 7). Sex offenders have reduced privacy interests because they threaten the public safety. *Id.*; *In re Det. of Campbell*, 139 Wn.2d 341, 356, 986 P.2d 771 (1999) (noting the "truncated privacy interests of the convicted sex offender" in SVP proceedings).

In comparison, the public has "[g]rave public safety interests" that outweigh the "truncated" privacy interests of SVP respondents like Mr. Herrick. *Id.* The State's compelling interest in "both treating sex predators and protecting society from their actions," therefore, is "irrefutable." *Young*, 122 Wn.2d at 26.

**b. Our courts have determined that the PPG is an accepted and routinely used diagnostic and treatment tool in Washington.**

In Washington, "[PPG] testing is regarded as an effective method for diagnosing and treating sex offenders." *State v. Riles*, 135 Wn.2d 326, 343-44, 957 P.2d 655 (1998) (citing WAC 246-930-310(7)(c)), *abrogated on other grounds by State v. Sanchez Valencia*, 169 Wn.2d 782, 792, 239 P.3d 1059 (2010). Using the PPG for diagnostic purposes – as intended here – can assist a jury in understanding a sexual deviancy diagnosis.



*In re Detention of Halgren*, 156 Wn.2d 795, 807, 132 P.3d 714 (2006) (*Halgren II*) (expert in SVP trial could rely on and testify about PPG data, which did not implicate *Frye* and was admissible under ER 702). *Frye v. United States*, 54 App. D.C. 46, 293 F. 1013 (1923). Its use is well-supported in the scientific literature.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> See e.g., G Woodworth & J. Kadane, *Expert Testimony Supporting Post-Sentence Civil Incarceration of Violent Sexual Offenders*, 3 Law, Probability, & Risk 211, 229 (2004) (“The single best predictor [of risk] was phallometric assessment of deviant sexual preference.”); M. Carter, K. Bumby & T. Talbot, *Promoting Offender Accountability and Community Safety through the Comprehensive Approach to Sex Offender Management*, 34 Seton Hall L.Rev. 1273, 1285 (2004) (“psychosexual assessments may incorporate the use of psychophysiological measures (e.g., penile plethysmography, viewing time) to assess objectively the presence of deviant sexual arousal, preference, and interest.”); D. Doren, *Evaluating Sex Offenders* at 46 (2002) (“The potential utility of PPG results is in both the diagnostic and risk assessment portions of the evaluation. . . . [T]here seems significant reason to believe that deviant PPG results are meaningful when assessing the risk for sexual recidivism.”); R. Hamill, *Recidivism of Sex Offenders: What You Need to Know*, 15 Criminal Justice 24, 29 (ABA 2001) (citing 1996 and 1998 studies by R. Hanson and M. Bussiere that showed “plethysmographic preference for children” as having the strongest predictive value among 21 factors for predicting sexual recidivism.); R. Schopp, M. Scalora & M. Pearce, *Expert Testimony and Professional Judgment: Psychological Expertise and Commitment as a Sexual Predator after Hendricks*, 5 Psychology, Public Policy & Law 120, 135 (1999) (“Deviant sexual preferences, as measured through plethysmographic assessment, increase the probability of recidivism.”); J. Bailey & A. Greenburg, *The Science and Ethics of Castration: Lessons from the Morse Case*, 92 Nw. U.L.Rev. 1225, 1226 (1998) (“Paraphilias can often be assessed via penile plethysmography.”); G. Harris, M. Rice & V. Quinsey, *The Science in Phallometric Measurement of Male Sexual Interest*, 5 Current Directions in Psychological Science 156-160, 159 (1996) (“Phallometry is the best available scientific measure of men’s sexual preferences. . . .”); R. Langevin & R.J. Watson, *Major Factors in the Assessment of Paraphilics and Sex Offenders*, in *Sex Offender Treatment: Biological Dysfunction, Intrapsychic Conflict, Interpersonal Violence* 42 (1996) (“plethysmography is one of the most reliable and valid physiological measures available. . . . [and is] in a league of its own.”); W. Pithers & D. Laws, *Phallometric Assessment in the Sex Offender: Collections, Treatment and Legal Practice*, 12-2 (1995) (“[A]ny restrictions imposed on a specially trained clinician’s ability to employ phallometry in assessing and treating sex offenders would be analogous to depriving a physician the right to obtain x-rays in cases of bone injuries.” [internal citation omitted]); R. Wettstein, *A Psychiatric Perspective on Washington’s Sexually Violent Predator Statute*, 15 U. Puget Sound L. Rev. 597, 610 (1992) (recommending plethysmography as part of the evaluation of sex offenders); and B. Maletzky, *Treating the Sexual Offender* at 31 (1991) (“erectile responses via the penile plethysmograph have assumed the leading if not definitive role in present-day assessment of deviant sexual arousal.”).

Trial courts routinely order PPG testing as a sentencing condition in criminal cases, as a component of community sexual offender treatment. *Riles*, 135 Wn.2d at 352. The only prerequisite for compelling the testing is that it be requested by the person's treatment provider. *Id.* at 337; *State v. Johnson*, 184 Wn. App. 777, 780, 340 P.3d 230 (2014); *State v. Land*, 172 Wn. App. 593, 605, 295 P.3d 782 (2013).

PPG testing, therefore, is appropriately ordered in an SVP proceeding as part of comprehensive evaluation. Just as in criminal sentencing, RCW 71.09.050(1) permits a trial court to order an SVP respondent, as part of his statutory evaluation, to participate in PPG testing "if requested by the evaluator[.]" To pursue its compelling interest in protecting the public, the State carries a heavy burden: It must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Herrick *currently* suffers from a sexually deviant mental disorder. PPG results will provide important information about Mr. Herrick's mental state and "are routinely relied upon by mental health professionals in conducting sex offender and sexually violent predator evaluations[.]" CP 685. Any prejudice to Mr. Herrick in admitting the evidence at trial does not substantially outweigh its probative value. *Halgren II*, 156 Wn.2d at 807; ER 403.

**c. The Court of Appeals applied well established precedent in holding RCW 71.09.050(1) satisfies substantive due process.**

Substantive due process analysis "protects against certain government actions 'regardless of the fairness of the procedures used to implement them.'" *In re Bush*, 164 Wn.2d 697, 706, 193 P.3d 103 (2008)

(quoting *Daniels v. Williams*, 474 U.S. 327, 331, 106 S. Ct. 662, 88 L. Ed. 2d 662 (1986)). SVP statutes satisfy substantive due process so long as they involve proper procedures, evidentiary standards and a finding of dangerousness that is linked to a mental disorder. *In re Detention of Post*, 145 Wn. App. 728, 754-55, 187 P.3d 803 (2008) (citing *Kansas v. Crane*, 534 U.S. 407, 409-10, 122 S. Ct. 867, 151 L. Ed. 2d 856 (2002)).

Washington's SVP commitment scheme has repeatedly been found to satisfy substantive due process. *Young*, 122 Wn.2d at 36-39. It has also been upheld against specific challenges. *See, e.g., In re Detention of Berry*, 160 Wn. App. 374, 380-381, 248 P.3d 592 (2011) (noting *Young's* rejection of a substantive due process challenge to the same rape disorder with which Herrick is diagnosed); *State v. McCuiston*, 174 Wn.2d 369, 386, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012) (rejecting challenge to post-commitment release trial provisions); *Bergen*, 146 Wn. App. at 529 (2008) (rejecting challenge to less restrictive alternative release standards).

Here, the SVP statute grants discretion to trial courts to order a variety of testing, including PPG testing, but only as part of a comprehensive SVP evaluation, and only when the evaluator has requested it. RCW 71.09.050(1). It therefore goes no further than what is already accepted for sentencing conditions, where PPG testing can be compelled if requested by a treatment provider. *Riles*, 135 Wn.2d at 352; *Johnson*, 184 Wn. App. at 780; *Land*, 172 Wn. App. at 605. Trial courts cannot order the testing outside of an evaluation, or when it is not needed. It is an appropriate tool in SVP cases because its results are routinely relied upon

by mental health professionals, and it is recognized as effective for diagnosing sex offenders. CP 685; *Riles*, 135 Wn.2d at 343-44. It can assist a jury in understanding a diagnosis and its results are admissible under ER 703 and 705. *Halgren II*, 156 Wn.2d at 807.

The appellate court correctly held that Herrick failed to establish that RCW 71.09.050(1) violates his truncated right to privacy or substantive due process. This Court should affirm.

**3. The Court of Appeals followed this Court's guidance when assessing Mr. Herrick's procedural due process claim.**

Procedural due process is a flexible concept that is evaluated in the context within which it is applied. *In re Detention of Stout*, 159 Wn.2d 357, 370, 150 P.3d 86 (2007) (citing *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 334, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976)). The *Mathews* test balances: (1) the private interest affected, (2) the risk of erroneous deprivation of that interest through existing procedures and the probable value, if any, of additional procedural safeguards, and (3) the governmental interest, including costs and administrative burdens of additional procedures. *Id.*

Previous applications of the *Mathews* test in SVP cases have always resulted in a determination that the State's interests outweigh the respondent's. *Stout* applied the *Mathews* test to the denial of an SVP respondent's right to confront witnesses at trial or deposition. *Stout* concluded that, while the respondent's liberty interest was substantial, the other two factors favored the State. *Id.* at 370-71. A "comprehensive set of rights" exists in SVP cases that protect against erroneous deprivation of

liberty. *Id.* Stout held that, “given the myriad procedural safeguards surrounding an SVP trial, an SVP detainee does not have a due process right to confront witnesses at his or her commitment trial nor at depositions.” *Id.* at 380-81. *See also In re Detention of Coe*, 175 Wn.2d 482, 510-11, 286 P.3d 29 (2012) (*Mathews* factors favor state where SVP expert testified about five victims who were never deposed).

Here, Mr. Herrick also has a substantial liberty interest, but as in *Stout* and *Coe*, the State’s interest is greater. “[I]t is irrefutable that the State has a compelling interest both in treating sex predators and protecting society from their actions.” *Young*, 122 Wn.2d at 26. The SVP statute provides Mr. Herrick with a “comprehensive set of rights” that protect him from erroneous deprivation of liberty. *Stout*, 159 Wn.2d at 370-71.

The procedure in RCW 71.09.050(1) for compelling PPG testing in SVP cases is, if anything, more stringent than it is for requiring the testing as part of a criminal sentence. In the latter cases, PPG testing can be compelled if requested by a sexual deviancy treatment provider. *Riles*, 135 Wn.2d at 352; *Johnson*, 184 Wn. App. at 780; *Land*, 172 Wn. App. at 605. But in SVP cases, the request comes from a highly qualified forensic psychologist. *See*, e.g., WAC 388-880-033 (rule establishing forensic evaluator qualifications); CP 1078-86 (curriculum vitae of Brian Judd, Ph.D.). Thus, it is probable that an SVP forensic expert who requests PPG testing will be more highly qualified than the community treatment therapist envisioned in cases like *Riles*, *Johnson* and *Land*.

The Court of Appeals recounted the reasons the testing was ordered:

1) The previous test was conducted before the SVP petition was filed and was done for treatment as opposed to evaluation purposes; 2) the record reflected efforts by Herrick to manipulate the PPG results; 3) *Halgren II* indicates that the expert there relied on the PPG in forming his diagnostic opinions; 4) Riles indicates that the PPG is an effective method for diagnosing sex offenders; 5) the statute provides for the testing; and 6) Dr. Judd, the State's expert, requested it as part of his evaluation. 1RP 26-30.

The trial court went further, providing additional protections to Mr. Herrick. The court ordered that Mr. Herrick could have two representatives present at the PPG testing and his counsel can make legal objections during the polygraph test, to protect his Fifth Amendment rights. CP 354. As in *Halgren II*, the PPG evidence would be admitted only under ER 703 and 705, to explain the bases of the experts' opinions. CP 354; 156 Wn.2d at 805-06. Mr. Herrick has been appointed his own PPG expert, in addition to his forensic psychologist. CP 688-94. The procedural protections in place are substantial and will guard against erroneous deprivation of Mr. Herrick's liberty. Under the *Mathews* test, RCW 71.09.050(1) does not violate Mr. Herrick's right to procedural due process on its face.

**4. There is no constitutional question regarding the application of RCW 71.09.050(1) to Mr. Herrick.**

Mr. Herrick also argues that appellate court should have found RCW 71.09.050 unconstitutional as applied. He offers no suggestion regarding how, instead claiming there was not enough “heightened scrutiny” of the testing request. “An as-applied challenge to the constitutional validity of a statute is characterized by a party’s allegation that application of the statute in the specific context of the party’s actions or intended actions is unconstitutional.” *State v. Hunley*, 175 Wn.2d 901, 916, 287 P.3d 584 (2012) (citing *City of Redmond v. Moore*, 151 Wn.2d 664, 668-9, 91 P.3d 875 (2004)). “Holding a statute unconstitutional as-applied prohibits future application of the statute in a similar context, but the statute is not totally invalidated.” *Id.*

Not only does Mr. Herrick’s fail to identify with specificity how RCW 71.09.050 was unconstitutionally applied to him, but he also ignores his concession to the trial court that the State needed new PPG test data:

To say that [the State] needs this PPG exam is probably an understatement that we’ve known since the filing of this case back in 2011. Because we knew right up front in the initial discovery that the 2009 PPG exam was an inconclusive exam that we believed was ultimately going to be invalid and not be relied upon.

I don’t know why it’s taken so long for the AG to come to this conclusion, but we knew this pretty much upfront. . . .

3RP 13.

Further supporting Mr. Herrick’s concession was his expert opinion evidence that the previous testing had “no clinical or predictive value in this

case.” CP 693. Mr. Herrick’s concession occurred in a contempt hearing held after the trial court had ordered PPG testing, but for waiver, invited error and judicial estoppel purposes the concession should be considered binding. The trial court relied on Mr. Herrick’s concession when holding him in contempt: “Well, as you point out, the Petitioner needs the new PPG.” 3RP 17.

In addition, Mr. Herrick does not challenge the trial court’s findings of fact establishing that the State’s evaluator is seeking “current information,” that PPG testing is “is routinely relied upon by mental health professionals in conducting sexually violent predator evaluations for purposes of assessing sexual preferences and assessing risk,” or that “based on the evidence before the Court, there is good cause to require Respondent to comply with the requested procedures.” CP 353-54. Unchallenged findings of fact are verities on appeal. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 819, 828 P.2d 549 (1992). All of above are reasons why review of the Court of Appeals’ decision is unwarranted here.

**B. The Court Of Appeals Decision Is Consistent With Previous Decisions By This Court And The Court Of Appeals.**

As he did below, Mr. Herrick relies heavily on *United States v. Weber*, 451 F.3d 552 (2006). *Weber* concerned a challenge to a federal sentence requiring PPG testing as a condition of supervised release. 451 F.3d at 555-56. However, *Weber* did not analyze a due process claim, it interpreted a federal sentencing statute: 18 U.S.C. § 3583. *Id.* at 557. *Weber* ultimately held that before a U.S. District Court could impose PPG



testing as a term of supervised release under § 3583, it had to determine whether the testing is necessary. *Id.* at 569-70. Significantly, *Weber* acknowledged that PPG testing “has become routine in the treatment of sexual offenders and is often imposed as a condition of supervised release.” *Id.* at 554.

Moreover, unpublished Washington authority has distinguished *Weber* in the context of compelled PPG testing for SVP detainees. *In re Det. of Brennan*, 190 Wn. App. 1038 (2015), *review denied*, 185 Wn.2d 1021, 369 P.3d 500 (2016) (2015 WL 6441717).<sup>5</sup> In *Brennan*, the appellant challenged the constitutionality of the PPG order, rather than of the statute, but the analysis distinguishing *Weber* applies here. 2015 WL 6441717 at \*2. *Brennan* concluded that:

Brennan fails to provide authority requiring a court to make an individualized determination regarding the necessity of PPG testing in sexually violent predator civil commitment proceedings. Thus, *Weber* is not applicable to the circumstances in this case.

*Id.* at \*3 (footnote omitted). The same is true here. Mr. Herrick fails to show why *Weber*'s analysis of a federal sentencing statute requires Washington to grant him greater constitutional protections in an SVP proceeding than other convicted sex offenders. More importantly, he fails to show how the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Weber*. It does not, and further review is unnecessary.

---